

# **Cutting Red Tape**

Overcoming State Bureaucracies to Develop High-Performing State Education Agencies

By Robert Hanna, Jeffrey S. Morrow, and Marci Rozen June 2014





# **Cutting Red Tape**

Overcoming State Bureaucracies to Develop High-Performing State Education Agencies

By Robert Hanna, Jeffrey S. Morrow, and Marci Rozen June 2014

### Contents

#### 1 Introduction and summary

- 5 Improving SEA performance: Obstacles and opportunities
  - 5 Skills development
  - 6 Agency reorganization
  - 8 Staff performance evaluation
  - 9 Talent recruitment
  - 10 Employee compensation
- 13 Other challenges to improving SEA performance
  - 13 Federal regulations
  - 14 State politics
  - 15 Organizational culture
- 17 Recommendations
- 19 Conclusion
- 21 About the authors
- 22 Acknowledgements
- 23 Endnotes

## Introduction and summary

States serve a special role in our public education system. Through elected legislatures, states have endowed their various state departments of education with powers over public education, which include granting authority to local entities—typically school districts—to run schools. In their oversight capacity, states—traditionally through state education agencies, or SEAs—monitor districts and schools to ensure that students are safe in school and that their education meets minimum quality standards. But such standards are typically not explained with any specificity. Inspired by a national movement to provide equitable opportunities to all children, states also collect and redistribute dollars intended to reduce local funding disparities. Moreover, many policymakers—particularly federal policymakers—and advocates have asked states to drive large-scale educational improvement through federal programs, including No Child Left Behind waivers, Race to the Top initiatives, or the No Child Left Behind, or NCLB, Title I School Improvement Grant program.

The space occupied by SEAs is also an ambiguous one. While SEAs and state departments of education have legal authority over schools, the districts and their schools manage the administration of education. At the same time, the success of SEAs as organizations ultimately depends upon what teachers are able to accomplish in classrooms. The paradox in all this is that there is a very long distance between a state department of education and the school classroom.

Under mounting federal pressure to be more involved in improving schools, SEAs have seen the scope and breadth of their work significantly increase in recent years. Traditionally, SEAs' role is to closely monitor how districts and schools spend federal funds. But SEA staff are now also tasked with a long and growing list of responsibilities, including teacher licensure, distribution of funding, technical assistance to educators, the management and administration of end-of-year tests, and maintenance of state-level student and school databases. Perhaps one of the most pressing recent reforms—the implementation of college- and career-ready standards, such as the Common Core State Standards—also comes with substan-

tial responsibilities for state agencies. SEAs are now responsible for professional development and support for teachers in these new, more rigorous standards, while also administering and grading new computer-based state assessments aligned with these new standards.

Because of this wide scope of duties, those who lead SEAs—not just their executive administrators but also other high-level managers—serve an important role in the future of our country as schools are pivotal to our global competitiveness. Many state education chiefs understand this role, calling on one another to "[focus] on those state-driven leverage points they are uniquely positioned to address - and [increase] their capacity to produce students ready to succeed as productive members of society." Now it is up to SEA leaders to do what they can to meet these increased demands.

One major impediment to their success is bureaucracy. State leaders have described a range of state laws and rules that direct or restrict their activities in nonproductive ways. <sup>4</sup> As a consequence, many state education leaders report that they cannot secure the talent they want and need. They say they are hampered in their ability to reorganize their agencies to be more efficient and lack the needed authority to terminate consistently poor-performing employees. State education leaders also have a large list of federal requirements for the types of activities they should be managing or executing with federal funds, including improving schools that the federal government required them to designate but with little additional funding.

In this paper, we explore the red tape that binds state education leaders as they seek to make today's ambitious reforms a reality. While navigating this maze of laws and regulations can be daunting for these leaders, often limiting their actions, not all red tape is equally debilitating and certainly not as sturdy as state leaders understand them to be. The good news is there are workarounds, as demonstrated by some SEAs. In other instances, state leaders need help from policymakers in order to succeed where bureaucratic constraints still exist. Nevertheless, overcoming such obstacles is as much about interpersonal staff work as bureaucratic reform. Being effective at this is about breaking with norms and changing behaviors.

A comprehensive review of each state's laws and regulations is beyond the scope of this paper. As such, this paper explores state laws and regulations in four states: California, Louisiana, New York, and Ohio. This purposeful sample, which varies by geographic location and politics, includes states with straightforward, easy-to-navigate resources on state laws. Along the way, we also point to specific examples of other states that have been successful at overcoming bureaucratic constraints. We also rely on research on SEAs and our previous research with these organizations. Research in this field is limited to a small set of analysts, and little information exists about what goes on within state agencies, particularly related to management and staffing.<sup>5</sup> We hope that others will continue research in this field to expand our knowledge about the SEAs that we give with so much responsibility.

This report offers our perspective on the national landscape of relevant state laws and regulations based on our research. We believe that many rules considered set in stone are, in fact, very much open to interpretation and leave much more room than is assumed for state leaders to take bold actions to improve SEA performance. We also describe the management strategies and the bureaucratic requirements that limit or direct state education leaders. In some states, for example, states leaders' decisions to reorganize their agencies must be approved by multiple bodies, such as the state board of education or the governor, or these leaders must follow pay scales that are already determined by state legislatures.

Clearly, SEAs need bureaucratic flexibility, and this report explore flexibilities already available to them and identify flexibilities that other entities such as the federal government or state legislatures could grant to provide optimal support for state education agencies. Texas provides a prime example of how existing rules can aide a SEA in carrying out its charge. In Texas, the head of the SEA has a free hand to require staff to attend a variety of training activities as long as the training is linked to their work.<sup>7</sup>

We organize our discussion by five strategic areas that are critical to the successful functioning of SEAs: developing skills; aligning the organization to priorities; evaluating staff performance; recruiting talent; and paying competitively. Finally, recognizing that the laws and rules that govern state education work are only a part of the whole picture, with organizational history and established routines playing a role, we also explore cultural matters affecting the work of SEAs. Many

state education leaders report that staffs' resistance to change makes it difficult to take innovative actions, for instance. Staffs' organizational routines might be just as strong a barrier to SEA improvement as laws or regulations.

This paper discusses the laws and rules that govern how state leaders manage their agencies. We also highlight state leaders who have developed new strategies to overcome bureaucracy and improve their organizations. Former Louisiana State Education Chief Paul Pastorek worked with the state legislature to make a new organization for the Louisiana Department of Education a reality. Former State Chief Lisa Graham Keegan changed the civil service status of some employees by asking them to give away civil service protections in exchange for promotions.

Finally, we discuss other influences on how state leaders manage. Those influences included federal regulations that make it difficult to use federal dollars in innovative ways and state politics that may decrease employee civil service protections and increase state leaders' authority over hiring and terminating staff.

The paper concludes with the following recommendations for federal and state policymakers:

- Federal policymakers should improve and streamline compliance monitoring and reporting requirements.
- State leaders should reexamine their states' legal requirements and identify areas for agency improvement.
- State policymakers—legislators and state employee organizations—should streamline civil service processes to improve state agency operations.

In many ways, the success of educational policies in the United States depends greatly on the success of state education agencies. To meet the current demands placed on them, it is imperative that state policymakers and state leaders work together to improve the conditions in which SEA staff work. This requires a critical and thorough re-examination of what these conditions actually are, and we hope that this paper can serve as a guide for that process.

## Improving SEA performance: Obstacles and opportunities

In the following sections, we describe state laws and regulations in our four study states—California, Louisiana, New York, and Ohio—pointing out which obstacles are rigid and deeply entrenched and which are not nearly as imposing as state leaders perceive. We organize our discussion below around five areas where state leaders could act as agency managers: skills development, agency reorganization, staff performance evaluation, talent recruitment, and employee compensation. This range of areas is where state leaders have recognized and reported their most significant challenges.8

#### Skills development

Historically, SEAs have focused on compliance. These activities have included and still require state leaders to monitor how districts use federal dollars, including how their own staff are allocated to federally mandated tasks. Every funding stream comes with strings attached, possibly hundreds of them. State education leaders must monitor their agencies and their districts for compliance with these regulations and requirements. In this time of large-scale policy reforms, state education leaders' monitoring responsibilities have grown, and additional new responsibilities have also increased substantially. Under new federal initiatives such as the School Improvement Grant, or SIG, program or Race to the Top, or RTT—state leaders must manage school improvement in their lowest-performing schools, intervening intensively when necessary. Moreover, all of this is in addition to the responsibilities state legislatures place on state education departments, such as managing teacher licensure, authorizing charter schools, and implementing college-and-career-ready standards.<sup>10</sup> For new teacher evaluation systems, state legislatures or state boards of education set guidelines for the types of evaluations districts and schools must implement, and SEA leaders are responsible for monitoring these efforts as well.

All of these responsibilities imply new tasks for the SEA, and state leaders must work with their staffs to learn the skills needed to meet these new demands. Across the four states reviewed for this report, state laws place few, if any, restrictions on what types of training opportunities state leaders can provide. Beyond our sample, we found statutes in Texas indicating state leaders can actually require that staff members to attend training as long as it is germane to their work responsibilities.11

With numerous new responsibilities, many state staff members will need new skills and knowledge, and state leaders have considerable flexibility to offer—or even require—new training opportunities for agency employees to meet those responsibilities. Frequently, however, these education leaders also want to redesign how their agency is organized, so that state staff can work together in different ways aligned with new agency priorities. This is discussed in the next section.

#### Agency reorganization

A common first step for new incoming state superintendents is to reorganize their agencies to align with their particular vision or strategic priorities. 12 No research currently exists showing the most effective types of structures to put in place when it comes to building a high-performing SEA.<sup>13</sup> Nevertheless, this is a sensible approach, and it is a common approach to organizational improvement in the business sector. 14 In most cases, state leaders need formal approval to do this, often from state lawmakers. However, that is not always the case.

On the one hand, state education leaders can, without legal constraints, redirect staff members to do new tasks that are within the scope of their designated roles. This is the very nature of work and management. Sometimes restructuring is about encouraging and incentivizing new collaborations. In Kentucky, state educational leaders have formed what they term "cross-functional groups" across offices to address the state department of education's goals, such as improving high school graduation rates. 15 In Maryland, state staff members from different offices work together through the state's Breakthrough Center, which is intended to support communities of practice where these staff members discuss issues related to school and district improvement. 16 Maryland state education leaders said this approach has moved these offices away from a strictly "compliance orientation."17

On the other hand, when state leaders want to enact strong structural changes such as combining or eliminating positions, changing which staff report to which supervisors, or creating new operating offices—they typically need to receive approval from legislators, the governor, the state board of education, or the state director for human resources. In California, for example, the state education chief must make recommendations to the State Board of Education, which oversees the California Department of Education, or CDE, for approval of new organizations or reporting structures within the CDE.<sup>18</sup>

When most state education leaders want to terminate employees, they typically have to show and provide evidence for cause. In our sample states, staff members that are not in high-level management positions are typically in the classified service category and subject to the state's civil service code. 19 For classified service staff, state education leaders must adhere to certain employee protections when dealing with disciplinary actions or terminations. In general, state education leaders can only take personnel actions against employees in this class, such as suspension or removal, when there an identified cause. In Ohio, for example, state leaders can terminate employees for dishonesty, drunkenness, and incompetency but not without first giving employees notice and an opportunity to contest the stated cause.<sup>20</sup>

However, state leaders can terminate employees in the unclassified category essentially at-will, but these employees are also subject to legally binding due processes. Unclassified positions might include, as in Ohio, the state superintendent and assistant superintendents.<sup>21</sup> In New York, state leaders can terminate at-will staff in exempt positions, such as deputy executives in state agencies, except in special cases that are prohibited by law, such as when discrimination is an issue.<sup>22</sup>

When SEA budgets are reduced, state leaders may need to lay off employees through reductions in force provisions. In New York and Ohio, state education leaders must generally lay off employees according to seniority.<sup>23</sup> In Ohio, there are other considerations as well, such as employees' part-time status or classification level,<sup>24</sup> and laid-off employees can displace other employees on layoff lists, according to prescribed rules.<sup>25</sup> More senior employees would then be first in line if new positions became available at their former classification level.<sup>26</sup> State leaders would prefer to terminate staff based on their job performance, rather than years of experience, and reorganize their agencies with candidates of their choice, as opposed to always having to give preference to more senior employees.

In their current policy environments, some state leaders have been able to bring structural change. Louisiana's former State Education Chief Paul Pastorek worked with state lawmakers to change state laws to reorganize the state's department of education into a few different functions, including separate offices for literacy, science, technology, and math, and college and career readiness.<sup>27</sup> In Arizona, former superintendent Lisa Graham Keegan used a process that would uncover positions, that is to say, when employees wanted to be promoted, they would be asked to relinquish civil service protections.<sup>28</sup>

Regardless of whether state education agencies require formal reorganization, state education leaders should improve SEA performance through the staff performance evaluation system. In the next section, we describe the limited legal constraints state leaders face when they want to identify employee strengths, accomplishments, and areas for improvement.

#### Staff performance evaluation

State leaders need information to develop and manage strategies for organizational improvement. One way they can gather this information is through employee evaluations. Even in this era of educator evaluation reform, state lawmakers have established very few rules for how state education leaders should evaluate their employees. In some places, only the frequency of evaluation is set. In other places, more is said about what form it should take. In New York, for example, the state civil service agency determines the form and frequency of performance evaluations.<sup>29</sup> In Ohio, state leaders can evaluate employees using their own forms, provided they get approval from the state's director of administrative services,<sup>30</sup> and they must evaluate employees at least once per year.<sup>31</sup>

Despite these constraints, state leaders have considerable latitude to determine what to do with information from evaluations. In Florida, for example, leaders can use it to develop employee improvement plans.<sup>32</sup> But state leaders are restricted in their use of evaluation for termination or layoffs, as we described in the section above.

State leaders, however, can use performance evaluation findings to identify areas of strength and needed improvement for employees. Those with demonstrated skills can teach their colleagues new skills through thoughtful training activities. But, as their agencies are called upon to perform new tasks, state leaders sometimes must look outside their agency for candidates skilled in these new areas. This is discussed in the following section.

#### Talent recruitment

State education leaders are expected to lead their agencies in new, innovative areas and do more of the most effective interventions in their lowest-performing schools. For example, as state leaders work to implement new teacher evaluation systems, their staff needs to be knowledgeable in measuring effective teaching and skilled at implementing evaluation systems appropriately.<sup>33</sup>

To fill some of these critical positions, state education leaders look for talent in the private sector or in their school districts. Private-sector candidates can bring cutting-edge skills in information technology and financial management. Meanwhile some district leaders may have expertise in areas such as teacher training and firsthand knowledge of the elements of effective teaching on which new evaluation systems are based. State leaders can offer these latter candidates—district leaders—comparable positions with responsibilities over a larger scope of work such as monitoring evaluation systems across the state.

In general, as with most professions, state leaders must hire candidates who meet minimum requirements from an open applicant pool. To hire for civil service positions, state leaders must secure candidates competitively based on merit—terms common across state civil service laws. In other words, state education leaders must select candidates who meet or exceed requirements for education or professional experience, just as in other professions.

However, some exceptions to completely open competitions exist. States typically give preference in hiring to veterans of the armed forces. In Ohio, for example, after the examination process, state leaders must break ties between candidates by selecting the one with veteran status.<sup>34</sup> In other instances, states also give preference to current staff members. In New York, state leaders must fill open positions through promoting existing staff members, unless a formal determination is made by the civil service department that the position should be filled by a public, competitive examination.<sup>35</sup> In California, state education leaders must also fill highlevel civil service positions with internal candidates.<sup>36</sup>

When it comes to hiring the best talent, perhaps even more important than identifying and recruiting highly qualified candidates is being able to compete monetarily for their services—clearly a challenge in the public sector.<sup>37</sup> To retain the services of highly desirable candidates, state education leaders should emphasize

various nonmonetary benefits to potential candidates such as the opportunity for public service. But, the reality is that pay is still a paramount concern for recruiters. We consider employee compensation in the next section.

#### Employee compensation

Despite the importance of compensation to their recruitment activities, state education leaders lack direct control over their employees' salaries. Typically, state legislatures approve pay scales that define ranges for what employees can earn at each position type and these scales hold across agencies.

State education leaders, for instance, normally start employees at the lowest level of each position's pay range. But state leaders in some states, such as California and Louisiana, can make pay offers that are more competitive through a process known as "hiring above minimum." <sup>38</sup> Using this option, state education leaders can pay new staff at higher salary levels than allotted for under the preset pay scale. They do so not through legislation or rulemaking but rather through negotiation with the state agency responsible for state personnel—typically the state department of personnel administration.<sup>39</sup> To successfully secure the higher salary, state leaders must demonstrate that a candidate is "exceptional," a term used in many state civil service codes. They can do this in a variety of ways. For example, in Louisiana, state leaders can hire above the minimum if a candidate "possesses extraordinary or superior qualifications/credentials" regardless of the size of the applicant pool.<sup>40</sup> In California, state leaders can hire above the minimum if they can prove that a potential employee would be paid more in the private sector, in addition to other factors. 41 To make new positions more competitive for top talent, state education leaders should consider negotiating more often to hire above minimum if that option is available.

For current SEA employees, state leaders can provide additional compensation to those staff members who receive high ratings on staff performance evaluations. In New York, state education leaders can provide merit awards to employees in accordance with internal rules set by the state civil service commission. 42 By contrast, in Ohio, the SEA itself has discretion to determine the type, amount, and recipients of merit awards.<sup>43</sup>

Beyond pay, state leaders compensate staff in other ways, including highly attractive health and retirement plans and other lifestyle benefits. We did not review laws or regulations governing these forms of compensation, but they likely play a role in candidates' decisions.

In each of the five strategic areas described above, state laws and regulations place specific restrictions on what state education leaders can and cannot do to manage their staffs. State-determined pay scales are one important example, but state leaders also face significant bureaucratic obstacles to terminating staff. In other ways, state education leaders have quite a bit of leeway when it comes to taking action to improve agency performance, such as through staff evaluation and training. However, being an effective education leader requires more than just an understanding of flexibilities within current bureaucracies; it demands a willingness to break out of old habits and explore new approaches to hiring, management, and termination. Let's next explore other challenges to improving SEA performance and what state leaders can do to overcome these obstacles.



## Other challenges to improving SEA performance

Some SEA improvements require changing routines or challenging norms that are institutionalized within an organization's culture. Often these routines or norms are in place due to forces outside the control of state education leaders, such as federal regulations and state politics. State leaders can get stuck in current management habits because of these sorts of challenges. Below, we consider each in turn: federal regulations, state politics, and organizational culture.

#### Federal regulations

State leaders frequently mention federal government requirements as a major force driving important agency decisions. State education leaders manage agency budgets that rely at least to some extent on federal dollars, 44 and because of this, they fear losing funding if their agencies fail to fulfill federal funding requirements, according education attorneys Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric. 45\* Without a doubt, this is a legitimate fear: If auditors find that state education agencies did not comply with federal guidelines and regulations, they might be required to pay that money back to the federal government. 46 Some of these requirements related to the use of federal funds are directly linked to what state agency staff must track and report to the federal government. To be certain, the federal government provides some financial support for this work—commonly referred to as state "set-asides"—but often such compliance drives the work across the agency.

State leaders or their staffs also build up silos across their agencies because of federal time reporting requirements.<sup>47</sup> Basically, the issue here is that when state leaders use federal dollars to pay staff, they must demonstrate that their staff did work in the same proportion as they were federally funded.<sup>48</sup> For instance, state leaders can breakdown a program director's pay with 50 percent coming from NCLB Title I money and 50 percent from NCLB Title II money only if that director's time was equally split between the two federal initiatives. When their staff members work under multiple funding streams, SEAs have more extensive and more frequently

required federal forms to submit. Given the reporting requirements, it is easy to understand why state leaders feel compelled to manage funds in the manner they did when they passed their last audit inspection.<sup>49</sup> Overall, it is much easier to have each staff member work under one funding stream rather than multiple ones.<sup>50</sup>

Moreover, state leaders encounter a long list of federal requirements, some of which have extensive reporting elements. The DOE's Office of the Inspector General has found that there are more than 500 separate requirements alone in Title I of the ESEA.<sup>51</sup> Consider one of those requirements—the "supplementnot-supplant" requirement—where state and districts have to demonstrate that federal funds do not replace financial support from existing state or local funds. Specifically, states have to ensure their own and districts' compliance on a costby-cost basis, and each cost—that is, each distinct work activity—might have different circumstances under which states could comply.<sup>52</sup> Furthermore, state and district leaders must demonstrate that they provide Title I students with services that other students do not receive. 53 All of these make it easier to separate the administration of each federal education fund from the others.<sup>54</sup>

These federal requirements can bind state education leaders to traditional routines, and all of these federal regulations incentivize state leaders to comply in easy-to-monitor ways. But, as we have discussed above, overcoming state bureaucratic obstacles requires state leaders to think and act differently. This could be particularly challenging given these types of federal pressure.

#### State politics

State politics can put pressure on state policymakers seeking civil service reform, but governors have been somewhat successful recently in changing state personnel systems. State employee organizations representing staff members at many state agencies are often concerned with the dilution of civil service protections, in particular, eroding due process rights. 55 This concern is well founded. For example, civil service reform led by Arizona Gov. Jan Brewer (R) actually did take away these rights. <sup>56</sup> Likewise, Wisconsin's Gov. Scott Walker (R) garnered enough legislative support to take away collective bargaining rights for a large set of public employees<sup>57</sup> despite vehement protests by state employees and teachers.<sup>58</sup> Despite the opposition in both of these cases, state agency leaders gained substantial control over which employees they could terminate and therefore more flexibility to reorganize their agencies to meet their goals.

On the other hand, in Tennessee, reforms sought to improve civil service processes—rather than take certain protections away.<sup>59</sup> The Tennessee general assembly and Gov. Bill Haslam (R) enacted the Tennessee Excellence, Accountability and Management Act, or TEAM Act in 2012.60 The result is something that could be referred to as an "enhanced civil service" model. Core job protections remained, but some civil service processes were streamlined.<sup>61</sup> The Tennessee State Employees Association and the governor's administration on the TEAM Act both played a critical role in developing the legislation's final guidelines through extensive negotiations. 62 Typically, when employees file a grievance or complaint related to their work, they could wait months before a civil service oversight body renders a ruling. Now when an employee files an appeal in Tennessee, a governing panel hears three cases at the same time. 63 This gives state department leaders more efficient paths to review employee performance and, in cases of persistent low performance, to complete processes for termination. The new law also introduced a new performance evaluation system for state employees, where state leaders could use employees' ratings for a range of state personnel decisions, including termination.<sup>64</sup>

#### Organizational culture

These challenges are real and substantial, but organizational reform often requires state leaders to change the way that staff members work with one another—or the "culture" of the agency. As state education agency researchers Ashley Jochim and Patrick Murphy have observed, "in many cases, the will to act is the biggest barrier to transforming agency practice."65 They found that state leaders' capacity issues might be trumped by their willingness to break existing routines, and their work suggests that more money might not necessarily be the answer to these agencies' issues. 66 Jochim and Murphy have highlighted state leaders' "will to act" as a critical part of building state capacity within existing constraints.<sup>67</sup> Our analysis points out areas where state leaders should consider taking new approaches.

If state education leaders wish to accomplish new organizational reforms, they should also work hard to break out of their own agency's routines. The literature on state education agencies cited throughout this paper focuses on state leaders as drivers of improvement, but these studies rarely explore how agency leaders themselves have changed their leadership in response to outside pressures. Through new federal initiatives, such as Race to the Top, state policymakers have responded to federal pressure to embrace and execute large-scale education reforms, and state

education leaders have taken on critical roles in managing their implementation. Our research did not uncover specific information about how state leaders have experienced or embraced change in their pursuit of agency improvement. However, the evidence suggests that these leaders recognize that existing organizational norms and routines drive agency decision making, boxing state leaders into making similar choices as before.

State education leaders also regularly acknowledge that they must overcome resistance from staff to change as well.<sup>68</sup> In interviews for a 2011 CAP report title "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change," the featured state education chiefs noted that "the challenge of employees who resist direction or show little inclination to buy into a transformed agency culture."69 In many cases, state leaders would prefer to terminate these employees. Often, their initial response is to explore ways to do so, but due to civil service laws and processes, this is not easy.<sup>70</sup> In the end, these leaders work with these staff members through the change process.<sup>71</sup>

Throughout studies about change in education organizations, many researchers have identified organizational culture as a major impediment to change. They emphasize how organizations tend to continue to work in the same old ways until some outside event or force causes them to change. This holds true for state education leaders' work with their agency staff. Typically, the installation of a new state education chief or the passage of a new state legislation provides an opportunity to change the way SEA staff do business. But this should not have to be the case, and below, we recommend actions state leaders and policymakers can take to improve their agencies short of major structural reform at the federal or state level.

### Recommendations

We have explored the challenges that state education leaders face, and we have tried to identify barriers that are real and entrenched and others that are less so and that leaders could overcome through their own initiative. The responsibility to drive state-wide educational improvement is squarely on the shoulders of state education leaders and their staffs, but state and federal policymakers will need to step up and do their part as well to improve the conditions in which they work. In light of our findings, we recommend the following.

1. Federal policymakers should improve, modify, and streamline compliance monitoring and reporting requirements. Federal policymakers should make it a priority to help make SEAs world-class places to work. A primary obstacle to state-level organizational reform is federal education requirements and auditing. State leaders acknowledge that the fear of consequences from a bad audit motivates their approach to agency leadership. This fear is real, but federal policymakers should improve how they monitor the activities of SEAs. There is no consensus among analysts about which rules should stay and which should go, but it is clear that some could be improved. 72 Consider, for example, a solution proposed by CAP and its partners to the supplement-not-supplant requirement mentioned earlier in this paper. CAP and others have suggested that states and districts should be able to take a more comprehensive approach in order to meet this requirement. Specifically, district leaders should only need to show that they have distributed state and local funds to Title I and non-Title I schools in the same way instead of the current requirement: testing whether individual costs would have been made in the absence of federal funding.<sup>73</sup> This could significantly reduce administrative burden for state leaders, as they would not have to monitor compliance at such a minute level.<sup>74</sup>

- 2. State leaders should re-examine their states' legal requirements and identify areas for agency improvement. Our review suggests that state education leaders can do more to improve the performance of their departments. States such as Arizona and Louisiana prove that these changes can be accomplished. Lisa Graham Keegan, Arizona's former superintendent of public instruction, leveraged the SEA promotion process to move positions out of the civil service class. In Louisiana, Paul Pastorek, the former superintendent of education, worked with the legislature to change the laws governing the structure of the state's department of education. In each of the five strategic areas described above, state leaders often have more flexibility than they execute. While the cultural and external forces are real, there is still a great deal more that state education leaders can do, especially in skill development and performance evaluation, to improve the work of SEAs.
- 3. State policymakers—legislators and state employee organizations—should streamline civil service processes to improve state education agency operations. State policymakers should work toward streamlining civil service-related processes. Policymakers should consider following Tennessee's example described above and expand the membership of civil service adjudication boards to allow for more grievance reviews to take place simultaneously. In addition, policymakers should ensure that state leaders can make employmentrelated decisions based, at least in part, on results of employee evaluations, particularly when considering employee layoffs due to reduced budgets. Under improved civil service models, state education leaders would be able to execute personnel decisions, particularly terminations, in a more timely and fair manner as they would be based on more reliable evaluation systems. Moreover, state leaders could make bold management decisions, such as introducing new responsibilities for employees to implement new reforms, and they could expect to encounter less red tape in the employee appeals process.

## Conclusion

In this paper, we explored the laws and regulations governing state agency management in a small sample of states and demonstrated that what is not explicitly spelled out and defined in these laws and regulations governing SEAs are, quite literally, open to interpretation. In fact, it is state education leaders' work in the spaces that are not specifically defined that might be behind the important advances in performance management that are taking place in leading-edge SEAs across the country. In his book Cage-Busting Leadership, education scholar Frederick Hess defines the "cage" as bars, real or perceived, that restrict leaders actions. He notes "It's become clear to me that much of what leaders say they can't do, think they can't do, or just don't do is stuff they are already able to do. ... The problem is they don't know they can. Or don't know how to get started. Or are too nervous to try. Or have never been taught they are supposed to push."75

Hess suggests that it might require "fresh eyes" to see how to breakthrough counterproductive constraints. <sup>76</sup> But this should not always require a change in leadership. One could imagine current leaders seeing their work in new ways, which should be encouraged.

Over the next two years, states will manage the implementation of large-scale education reforms. Implementing the Common Core and new teacher evaluation systems could perhaps be the two most significant reforms state agencies face today, leading to the question: Will state departments of education have the staff they need to make these ambitious reforms a reality?

It will certainly take various kinds of support, including the flexibility in hiring, performance evaluation, and compensation. But it will also require state leaders to continue to be bold in building SEAs that embody their set of well-articulated priorities. Sometimes, this will involve cutting red tape through mechanisms such as those described above, including negotiating, hiring-above-minimum

arrangements or creating cross-functional groups. At other times, it will require that state education leaders acknowledge that some constraints holding them back are "illusory and self-imposed," as Hess has described.<sup>77</sup> In either case, state education leaders will need to continue to find ways to attract the best and brightest talent and to enlist needed support to enable their staffs to meet new challenges and demands. This report serves as a useful guide to the leaders of state education agencies and the policymakers who oversee the work of these agencies.

\* Correction, June 19, 2014: This report incorrectly identified Melissa Junge and Sheara *Krvaric's occupation. They are attorneys.* 

#### About the authors

Robert Hanna is a Senior Education Policy Analyst at the Center for American Progress. Prior to joining American Progress, he worked on school research with Ronald Ferguson at the Harvard Kennedy School of Government. Previously, Hanna taught math at Boston College High School in Massachusetts. He has a master of arts degree in the social sciences from the University of Chicago and received his bachelor's degree from Harvard University.

**Jeffrey S. Morrow** is an associate at Sidley Austin, LLP, in the Litigation practice in the Washington, D.C., office. Morrow earned his law degree, cum laude, at Georgetown University, where he was the senior administrative editor for *The* Georgetown Law Journal. While at Georgetown University, he also earned his Master of Public Policy. Morrow received both his M.A. and B.A. in politics from Brandeis University, from which he also graduated cum laude. Prior to joining the firm, Morrow served as a law clerk for the Appellate and Supreme Court Division of the National Labor Relations Board. Previously, he also served as a law clerk for the Committee on Health, Education, Labor, and Pensions in the Labor Policy Office of a U.S. senator.

Marci Rozen is an associate at Sidley Austin, LLP, in the Litigation practice in the Washington, D.C., office. Rozen earned her law degree at The University of Chicago Law School, where she served as the senior comments editor for *The* University of Chicago Legal Forum. Rozen received her B.A., magna cum laude, in political science with a minor in philosophy from The George Washington University. Prior to joining Sidley, Ms. Rozen served as a public interest law initiative fellow at AIDS Legal Council of Chicago, a nonprofit organization dedicated to preserving, promoting, and protecting the legal rights of individuals impacted by HIV through direct legal assistance and policy advocacy.

#### Acknowledgements

The Center for American Progress thanks the Eli and Edythe Broad Foundation for their ongoing support of education programs and of this report. The views and opinions expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not reflect the position of the foundation. This report is part of a larger multiyear project on governance, conducted in partnership with the Thomas B. Fordham Institute, which evaluates the governance arrangements of our nation's K-12 education system and how they may be improved.

The authors also thank Cynthia G. Brown, Melissa Lazarín, and Tiffany D. Miller at American Progress for their feedback on drafts of this paper. Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric, federal education regulation experts, also provided helpful advice that informed our approach to this paper.

The authors would also like to thank Sidley Austin LLP for providing pro bono legal support for this paper in the form of the two attorneys who are recognized as co-authors for their contributions.

#### Endnotes

- 1 Thomas B. Timar, "The Institutional Role of State Education Departments," American Journal of Education 105 (3) (1997): 231-260, available at http://www. jstor.org/discover/10.2307/1085506?uid=3739584& uid=2129&uid=2&uid=70&uid=4&uid=3739256&s id=21104225386343.
- 2 Ibid
- 3 Council of Chief State School Officers, "Our Promise," available at http://www.ccsso.org/Who\_We\_Are/ Our\_Promise.html (last accessed April 2014).
- 4 Cynthia G. Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change: What It Will Take for the States to Step Up on Education Reform" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2011).
- 5 Ibid; Patrick J. Murphy and Monica Ouijdani, "State Capacity for School Improvement: A First Look at Agency Resources" (Seattle: Center on Reinventing Public Education, 2011), available at http://www.crpe. org/publications/state-capacity-school-improvementfirst-look-agency-resources.
- 6 SEA employees may be members of state employee unions, and the terms of their employment may be subject to negotiated contracts that trump default state laws. Leaders should therefore review the employment contracts of any given employee in addition to consulting state laws and regulations.
- 7 Texas Gov Code § 656.045 (2013).
- 8 See, for example, Nancy Kober and Diane Stark Rentner, "State Education Agency Funding and Staffing in the Education Reform Era" (Washington: Center on Education Policy, 2012), available at http://www.cep-dc.org/ displayDocument.cfm?DocumentID=396; Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change."
- 9 Letter from Assistant Inspector General for Audit Services Helen Lew to Assistant Secretary for Elementary and Secondary Education Henry L. Johnson, March 29, 2006, available at http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/ list/oig/auditreports/s06e0027.doc.
- 10 For one list of state education agency responsibilities, see Andy Smarick and Juliet Squire, "The State Education Agency: At the Helm, Not the Oar" (Washington: The Thomas B. Fordham Institute, 2014), available at http://edexcellence.net/publications/the-state-education-agency-at-the-helm-not-the-oar.
- 11 Texas Gov Code § 656.045 (2013).
- 12 Ashley Jochim and Patrick J. Murphy, "The Capacity Challenge: What It Takes for State Education Agencies to Support School Improvement" (Seattle: Center on Reinventing Public Education, 2013), p. 17, available at http://www.crpe.org/publications/capacity-challengewhat-it-takes-state-education-agencies-supportschool-improvement.
- 13 Patrick Murphy and Lydia Rainey, "Modernizing the State Education Agency: Different Paths Toward Performance Management" (Seattle: Center on Reinventing Public Education, 2012), available at http://www.crpe. org/publications/modernizing-state-education-agency-different-paths-toward-performance-managment.
- 14 A classic resource from the business literature is Jim Collins, Good to Great: Why Some Companies Make the Leap... and Others Don't (New York: Harper Business, 2001).

- 15 Jochim and Murphy, "The Capacity Challenge."
- 16 Ibid; Maryland Department of Education, "Breakthrough Center," available at http://www.marylandpublicschools.org/MSDE/divisions/leadership/breakthrough\_center.html (last accessed May 2014).
- 17 Jochim and Murphy, "The Capacity Challenge," p. 11.
- 18 Cal. Gov Code § 11152 (2012); Cal. Educ. Code § 33309 (2012); California Department of Education, "California Department of Education" (2014), available at http:// www.cde.ca.gov/re/di/or/documents/orgchartover-
- 19 California does not use the term "classified" to describe its civil service employees
- 20 Ohio Administrative Code, § 124.34(A).
- 21 ORC 124.11.
- 22 NY CSL 41, 42.
- 23 NY CSL 81-b; CSR 5.8; ORC 124.322.
- 24 ORC 124 323
- 25 Ohio ORC 124.324.
- 26 Ohio ORC 124.327.
- 27 Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change," p. 23. 2011 La. Sess. Law Serv. Act 302 (S.B. 80) (West), available at http://legiscan.com/LA/text/ SB80/id/342039/Louisiana-2011-SB80-Chaptered.pdf
- 28 Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change," p. 27.
- 29 NY CSR 35.5.
- 30 Ohio ORC 123:1-20-01(E).
- 31 Ibid.
- 32 Fla. Stat. § 110.224 (2013).
- 33 Patrick McGuinn, "The State of Teacher Evaluation Reform" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2012).
- 34 ORC 124.26 and 124.27(A).
- 35 NY CSL 51.1, 52.1.
- 36 Known as "Career Executive Assignment" positions. Cal. Gov Code § 18547; See also Cal. Admin. Code tit. 2, §
- 37 Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents
- 38 Cal. Gov. Code 19836; Louisiana Civil Service Rule 6.5(b); Louisiana Department of Administration, Office of Human Resources, "DOA Personnel Policy No. 45,"
- 39 NY CSL § 120; OCR § 124.14(A)(1); See Louisiana Civil Service Rule 6.5(b), (g); Louisiana Department of Administration, Office of Human Resources, "DOA Personnel Policy No. 45."
- 40 Louisiana Civil Service Rule 6.5(b), (g).
- 41 Cal Gov Code 19836

- 42 NY CSL § 145, 146; CSR § 61.
- 43 ORC 123:1-27-04.05.
- 44 There is little research about how much SEAs keep from federal education funds. Murphy and Ouijdani, "State Capacity for School Improvement"; Patrick Murphy, "Help Wanted: Flexibility for Innovative State Education Agencies" (Washington: Center for American Progress, 2014); Another reference is more than 20 years old. See U.S. General Accounting Office, "Education Finance: Extent of Federal Funding in State Education Agencies" (1994), available at http://www.gao.gov/ assets/230/220301.pdf.
- 45 Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric, "Federal compliance works against education policy goals" (Washington: American Enterprise Institute, 2011), available at http:// www.aei.org/article/education/k-12/federal-compliance-works-against-education-policy-goals/.
- 46 Ibid
- 47 Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric, federal education regulation attorneys, have discussed this in greater detail. See, for example, Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric,"Time and Effort'Takes Too Much Time and Effort," Education Week, October 26, 2011, available at http://blogs.edweek.org/edweek/rick\_hess\_straight\_ up/2011/10/time\_and\_effort\_takes\_too\_much\_time\_ and effort.html.
- 48 Office of Management and Budget, Cost Principles for State, Local and Indian Tribal Governments (The White House, 2004), available at http://www.whitehouse.gov/ omb/circulars\_a087\_2004.
- 49 Raegen T. Miller, Frederick M. Hess, and Cynthia G. Brown, "Reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act Offers a New Change to Improve Education" (Washington: Center for American Progress and the American Enterprise Institute, 2012), available at http://www.americanprogress.org/wp-content/uploads/issues/2012/03/pdf/titlel\_recs.pdf.
- 50 Junge and Krvaric, "Time and Effort' Takes Too Much Time and Effort."
- 51 Letter from Assistant Inspector General for Audit Services Helen Lew to Assistant Secretary for Elementary and Secondary Education Henry L. Johnson, March 29,
- 52 Melissa Junge and Sheara Krvaric, "An Examination of How the Supplement Not Supplant Requirement Can Work Against the Policy Goals of Title I" (Washington: Center for American Progress and the American Enterprise Institute, 2011).
- 53 Ibid.
- 54 Ibid
- 55 Melissa Maynard, "Civil Service Reform Passes in 3 States," Governing, June 12, 2012, available at http:// www.governing.com/blogs/view/civil-service-reformpasses.html.
- 56 Ibid.
- 57 McClatchy News, "Public Unions Are Clear Losers in Walker Victory," Governing, June 6, 2012, available at http://www.governing.com/blogs/politics/mct-publicunions-losers-in-wisconsin-recall.html; Monica Davey and Jeff Zeleny, "Walker Survives Wisconsin Recall Vote," The New York Times, June 5, 2012, available at http:// www.nvtimes.com/2012/06/06/us/politics/walkersurvives-wisconsin-recall-effort.html.

- 58 Monica Davey and Steven Greenhouse, "Angry Demonstrations in Wisconsin as Cuts Loom," The New York Times, February 16, 2011, available at http://www. nytimes.com/2011/02/17/us/17wisconsin.html.
- 59 Heather Kerrigan, "Civil Service Reform Comes to Tennessee," Governing, May 8, 2012, available at http:// www.governing.com/topics/public-workforce/col-civilservice-reform-tennessee.html.
- 60 Andy Sher, "Gov. Bill Haslam signs overhaul of state civil service," Chattanooga Times Free Press, April 24, 2012, available at http://www.timesfreepress.com/ news/2012/apr/24/gov-bill-haslam-signs-overhaulstate-civil-service/.
- 61 Tennessee Government, "Haslam Signs TEAM Act into Law," Press release, April 24, 2012, available at http:// news.tn.gov/node/8718; Tennessee State Employees Association, "TEAM ACT," available at http://tseaonline.org/issues/team-act/ (last accessed April 2014): TNForward, "Tennessee Excellence, Accountability and Management (T.E.A.M.) Act of 2012" (2012), available at http://tn.gov/governor/pdf/TEAMActRundown.pdf.
- 62 Michael Cass, "Haslam, state workers association reach deal on layoffs policy," The Tennessean, April 3, 2012, available at http://archive.wbir.com/news/local/storv.as px? odyssey = topic page & storyid = 214309.
- 63 Tennessee State Employees Association, "TSEA TEAM Act FAQ's" (2012), available at http://tseaonline.org/ wp-content/uploads/2012/12/TSEA-TEAM-Act-FAQ.pdf.
- 64 TNForward, "Tennessee Excellence, Accountability and Management (T.E.A.M.) Act of 2012."
- 65 Jochim and Murphy, "The Capacity Challenge," p. 19.
- 66 Ibid., pp. 5-6.
- 67 Ibid., p. 19.
- 68 Brown and others, "State Education Agencies as Agents of Change."
- 69 Ibid., p. 27.
- 70 Ibid.
- 72 Junge and Krvaric, "Federal compliance works against education policy goals"; Brenda J. Turnbull and Leslie M. Anderson, "Government that Works for Schools and Children: Defining an Effective State Role in Title I Education Reform" (Washington: Center for American Progress and American Enterprise Institute, 2012), available at http://www.policystudies.com/\_policystudies. com/files/titlel schools children.pdf.
- 73 Miller, Hess, and Brown, "Reauthorization of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act Offers a New Change to Improve Education"; Junge and Krvaric, "An Examination of How the Supplement Not Supplant Requirement Can Work Against the Policy Goals of Title I."
- 74 Turnbull and Anderson, "Government that Works for Schools and Children."
- 75 Frederick M. Hess, Cage-Busting Leadership (Cambridge, MA: Harvard Education Press, 2013), p. 6
- 76 Ibid., p. 40.
- 77 Ibid., p. 82.

The Center for American Progress is a nonpartisan research and educational institute dedicated to promoting a strong, just and free America that ensures opportunity for all. We believe that Americans are bound together by a common commitment to these values and we aspire to ensure that our national policies reflect these values. We work to find progressive and pragmatic solutions to significant domestic and international problems and develop policy proposals that foster a government that is "of the people, by the people, and for the people."

Center for American Progress